
 

 

Notice of Meeting 
 

CABINET 
 

Wednesday, 11 July 2012 - 10:00 am 
Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Dagenham 

 
Members: Councillor L A Smith (Chair); Councillor R Gill (Deputy Chair); Councillor J L 
Alexander, Councillor H J Collins, Councillor C Geddes, Councillor M A McCarthy, 
Councillor L A Reason, Councillor P T Waker, Councillor J R White and Councillor M M 
Worby 
 
 
Date of publication:  3 July 2012      Stella Manzie CBE 
          Chief Executive 
 

Contact Officer: Alan Dawson 
Tel. 020 8227 2348 

Minicom: 020 8227 5755 
E-mail: alan.dawson@lbbd.gov.uk 

 

 
AGENDA 

 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
2. Declaration of Members' Interests   
 
 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, Members are asked to declare any 

personal or prejudicial interest they may have in any matter which is to be 
considered at this meeting.  
 

3. Minutes - To confirm as correct the minutes of the meeting held on 26 June 
2012 (Pages 1 - 5)  

 
4. Proposed Amalgamation of William Ford Church of England (Voluntary Aided) 

Junior School and Village Infant School (Pages 7 - 21)  
 
5. Any other public items which the Chair decides are urgent   
 
6. To consider whether it would be appropriate to pass a resolution to exclude 

the public and press from the remainder of the meeting due to the nature of 
the business to be transacted.   

 



 

 

Private Business 
 

The public and press have a legal right to attend Council meetings such as the 
Cabinet, except where business is confidential or certain other sensitive 
information is to be discussed.  The list below shows why items are in the private 
part of the agenda, with reference to the relevant legislation (the relevant 
paragraph of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as 
amended).  There are no such items at the time of preparing this agenda.  

 
7. Any other confidential or exempt items which the Chair decides are urgent   
 



 
 

CABINET 

 
Tuesday, 26 June 2012 

(5:00  - 5:20 pm)  
  

Present: Councillor L A Smith (Chair), Councillor R Gill (Deputy Chair), Councillor 
J L Alexander, Councillor H J Collins, Councillor M A McCarthy, Councillor L A 
Reason, Councillor P T Waker, Councillor J R White and Councillor M M Worby 
 
Also Present: Councillor G Letchford and Councillor J E McDermott 
 
Apologies: Councillor C Geddes 
 

11. Declaration of Members' Interests 
 
 There were no declarations of interest. 

 
12. Minutes (22 May 2012) 
 
 The minutes of the meeting on 22 May 2012 were confirmed as correct. 

 
13. Final Revenue And Capital Outturn 2011/12 
 
 Further to Minute 3 of the last meeting, the Cabinet Member for Finance and 

Education presented a report on the Council’s final revenue and capital outturn 
position for the 2011/12 financial year. 
 
The Cabinet Member referred to the expenditure summary by directorate and 
confirmed that the final position remained largely unchanged from the provisional 
position reported at the last meeting, with General Fund budgets showing a net 
underspend of £2m against the net revenue budget of £183.4m which gave an 
improved year-end balance position of £14.3m.  The Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) surplus was £3.8m for the year, increasing the reserve to £8.2m at 31 
March 2012, and the Capital Programme showed an outturn of £127.7m compared 
to the revised budget of £167.6m, with the underspends rolled forward to 2012/13 
to enable the projects to be completed.   
 
Cabinet agreed: 
 

(i) To note the final outturn position for 2011/12 of the Council’s revenue 
budget as detailed in paragraphs 2.3 to 2.10 and Appendix A of the report; 

 
(ii) To note the final outturn against the 2011/12 savings targets as detailed in 

paragraph 2.11 and Appendix B of the report; 
 
(iii) To note the final outturn position for the HRA as detailed in paragraph 2.12 

and Appendix C of the report; 
 
(iv) To note the final outturn position for 2011/12 of the Council’s capital budget 

as detailed in paragraph 2.13 and Appendix D of the report; and 
 

AGENDA ITEM 3

Page 1



(v) To note that the Central Expenses roll-forward, approved by Minute 3(vi) of 
the last meeting, had reduced by £58,125 following the finalisation of the 
accounts. 

 
14. Healthwatch: New Ways of Involving the Public in Health and Social Care 

Services 
 
 The Cabinet Member for Health presented a report on the arrangements in hand to 

fulfil the Council’s duties, under the Health and Social Care Act 2012, to 
commission a fully operational local health and social care watchdog by April 
2013. 
 
The Cabinet Member explained that the new local Healthwatch would replace the 
Local Involvement Network (LINk) as the organisation responsible for representing 
the views of local residents of all ages, advocating and influencing the delivery and 
commissioning of health and social care services and actively promoting choice.  
Healthwatch would be an independently constituted body and would be able to 
escalate concerns to a new national body, Healthwatch England. 
 
Following initial discussions at the Shadow Health and Wellbeing Board and its 
sub-group, the Community and Service User Reference Group, a Healthwatch 
Steering Group was established to undertake the detailed work to create a local 
Healthwatch, including the development of a local vision and set of principles 
outlining the local values.  Arising out of that work, the Healthwatch Steering 
Group favoured a ‘hub and spoke’ local model whereby a central organisation 
would be the ‘hub’, networking with other existing local organisations and 
individuals, the ‘spokes’.  The ‘hub and spoke’ model was considered to offer the 
most inclusive approach by giving local residents the option of either speaking to a 
central organisation or liaising with a trusted local organisation or patient group. 
 
The proposals were considered by the Health and Adult Services Select 
Committee (HASSC) at its meeting on 23 May 2012, who supported the broad 
principles that had been established and further recommended a model which 
enabled a local Healthwatch to also have a presence across North East London, 
as many health services were delivered across borough boundaries.  HASSC also 
suggested that sharing back office functions would deliver efficiencies in the light 
of the limited funding that would be made available by Central Government to 
support local Healthwatch arrangements. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Environment referred to the announcement earlier in the 
day that the Government was considering intervening in the South London 
Healthcare NHS Trust due to its funding deficit position, with the possibility that a 
direction would be issued to close one of the three hospitals in the Trust’s area, 
and enquired as to the expected role of local Healthwatch bodies in such 
circumstances.  The Cabinet Member for Health confirmed that local Healthwatch 
bodies would be statutory consultees on such issues but that it was unlikely that 
the ability of these bodies to successfully campaign and influence Government 
thinking would be strengthened. 
 
Cabinet agreed: 
 

(i) The proposed “Hub and Spoke” model for delivering local Healthwatch as 
set out in the report;  

Page 2



 
(ii) In principle, to the procurement of Healthwatch along the lines of the outline 

strategy set out in the report, whether as a sole initiative or as a joint 
initiative with the London Borough of Havering and (should ongoing 
negotiations be successful) also the London Boroughs of Redbridge and 
Waltham Forest; 

 
(iii) To delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Adult and Community 

Services, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Health and the 
Divisional Director of Legal and Democratic Services, to determine the 
procurement method and strategy for delivering the local Healthwatch and 
undertake the appropriate procurement of a service provider; and 

 
(iv) To authorise the Corporate Director of Adult and Community Services, in 

consultation with the Corporate Director of Finance and Resources and the 
Cabinet Member for Health, to (a) award the contract upon conclusion of 
the procurement process; (b) form, establish or participate in such corporate 
body as may be necessary to create the Healthwatch; and (c) execute or 
approve the execution of such contracts and any other ancillary legal 
agreements or documents to facilitate the establishment of the Healthwatch. 

 
15. Retender of the Young Person's Specialist Substance Misuse Service, 

SubWize 
 
 The Cabinet Member for Crime, Justice and Communities presented a report on 

proposals to procure a new contract for the provision of the Young Person’s 
specialist substance misuse service ‘SubWize’ following the expiry of the current 
contract on 31 March 2013.   
 
The Cabinet Member explained that the SubWize service provided prevention and 
education services, family services, substance misuse treatment and diversion 
programmes to young people up to 19 years of age and had proved to be a very 
valued and successful programme.   
 
Cabinet agreed: 
 

(i) The procurement of the ‘SubWize’ Young Person’s Specialist Substance 
Misuse Service, to include a Single Point of Contact (SPoC) service, on the 
terms detailed in the report; and 

 
(ii) To authorise the Corporate Director of Adult and Community Services, in 

consultation with the Corporate Director of Finance and Resources, to 
award the contract to the successful contractor. 

 
16. Debt Management Performance and Write-Offs 2011/12 (Quarter 4) 
 
 The Cabinet Member for Finance and Education presented a report on the 

performance during the final quarter of the 2011/12 financial year (January - March 
2012 2011) in respect of the debt management function carried out by the 
Revenues and Benefits Service within Elevate East London, together with details 
of the debts written-off as uncollectable during the period and comparable 
information from the previous financial year. 
 

Page 3



In response to issues raised by the Cabinet Member for Housing at the meeting on 
20 March 2012 in relation to eviction levels, the Corporate Director of Housing and 
Environment advised that he had reviewed internal processes and now personally 
approved all eviction requests.  The Corporate Director also advised on the 
financial implications associated with evictions. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Customer Services and Human Resources referred to the 
performance data provided by Elevate East London and the Corporate Director of 
Finance and Resources confirmed that the data was verified by the Council’s client 
service. 
 
Cabinet agreed: 
 

(i) To note the contents of the report as it related to the performance of the 
debt management function carried out by the Revenues and Benefits 
Service operated by Elevate East London including the performance of 
bailiffs; and 

 
(ii) To note the debt write-offs for the fourth quarter of 2011/12 and that a 

number of those debts would be publicised in accordance with the policy 
agreed by Minute 69 (6 November 2007) (the debts to be published are 
those with the highest value for which publication is not prevented by the 
criteria set out in paragraph 2.53 of the report). 

 
17. Provision of Elderly Persons' Bungalows on Council Owned Sites 
 
 (The Chair agreed that the report could be considered at the meeting as a matter 

of urgency under the provisions of Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local Government 
Act 1972.) 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing presented a report on the proposed use of two 
Council-owned sites for the provision of new build bungalows suitable for 
occupation by older people. 
 
The Cabinet Member advised that the projects at the former Wood Lane Sports 
Centre, Wood Lane, and former Lawns older people’s home, Rainham Road 
North, would provide a mix of approximately 40 x one and two bedroom bungalows 
to help meet the demand for smaller, single-level accommodation amongst the 
Borough’s elderly tenants which, in turn, would release larger, under-occupied 
Council homes for families on the Council’s waiting list.   
 
The Cabinet Member referred to the development restrictions associated with the 
two sites which were within designated Green Belt areas and the associated 
financial and design considerations that had been taken into account.  The 
projects would be funded via the Housing Capital Investment Programme and a 
detailed report on the next five years’ rolling programme would be presented to the 
next Cabinet meeting, but the report had been brought forward to today’s Cabinet 
meeting in order for the projects to be commenced as soon as possible, with an 
ambitious completion target of June 2013.  The Leader of the Council reported that 
arrangements were in hand for the Wood Lane development to be named in 
celebration of Her Majesty The Queen’s Diamond Jubilee. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Children and Adult Services welcomed the proposal and 

Page 4



suggested that in addition to housing elderly residents the developments could 
also provide much needed accommodation for disabled residents.  Furthermore, a 
greater focus on the number of two bedroom and family-sized bungalows at both 
schemes would cater for disabled people with families and enable elderly residents 
to have family and other visitors stay overnight.  The Cabinet Member for 
Environment also spoke in favour of the proposal and the need for good 
management arrangements to be in place to ensure the ongoing success of the 
projects, and it was noted that a Tenancy Working Group had been set up to look 
at that and other related issues. 
 
Cabinet agreed: 
 

(i) Subject to (iii) below, the proposal to develop circa 24 one and two bedroom 
bungalows for elderly and disabled people at the Wood Lane Sports Centre 
site in the manner and with the funds referred to in the report, subject to the 
formal appropriation of the Wood Lane Sports Centre site from the General 
Fund to the HRA; 

 
(ii) Subject to (iii) below, the proposal to develop circa16 one and two bedroom 

bungalows for elderly and disabled people at the former Lawns site in the 
manner and with the funds referred to in the report; 

 
(iii) That an increased focus should be given to the development of two 

bedroom and family-sized bungalows at both schemes to reflect the needs 
of elderly couples and disabled people with families; 

 
(iv) In principle, to the appropriation of the Wood Lane Sports Centre site from 

the General Fund to the Housing Revenue Account, with a requirement that 
officers take necessary steps to seek formal appropriation of the site; 

 
(v) A contribution from the Housing Revenue Account to the General Fund of 

£1m in respect of the land value for the Wood Lane development site; and 
 
(vi) To delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Finance and Resources, 

in consultation with the Corporate Director of Housing and Environment, the 
Divisional Director of Legal and Democratic Services and the Lead Member 
for Housing, to agree terms and a detailed financial cost plan and procure 
the necessary design, consultancy and related services and works 
necessary to realise the developments in the manner proposed and to 
award and enter into all necessary and appropriate contracts and 
documentation to realise each scheme. 

 

Page 5



Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET  
 

11 JULY 2012 
 

Title: Proposed Amalgamation of William Ford Church of England (Voluntary Aided) Junior 
School and Village Infant School 
 

REPORT OF THE CABINET MEMBER FOR FINANCE AND EDUCATION 
 

Open report 
 

For Decision  
 

Wards Affected: Village Ward 
 

Key Decision: Yes 

Report Author:  
Mike Freeman, Group Manager – Schools 
Estate and Admissions 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8227 3492 
E-mail: mike.freeman@lbbd.gov.uk 

Accountable Divisional Director: Jane Hargreaves, Divisional Director of Education 
 

Accountable Director: Helen Jenner, Corporate Director of Children’s Services 
 

Summary:  
 
This report presents a proposal for the amalgamation of William Ford Church of England 
Junior School and Village Infant School to form an all through Church of England Primary 
School with effect from 1 September 2012 (Academic year 2012/13). 
 
This proposal has been initiated for the following main reasons: 
 

• educationally, a single school is able to ensure a more consistent approach to 
teaching and learning for the children than two separate schools; 

• a single school can look at its management structure with a view to ensuring the 
best use of staff across the whole school.  The combined expertise of the staff 
would be greater than in the two separate schools; 

• a single school would have a combined budget and would benefit from greater 
flexibility; 

• a single school would be able to rationalise the use of all resources and gain 
efficiencies including the benefits from the combination of funding from the 
individual school budgets.  

 
The consultation process regarding this proposed amalgamation is due to conclude on 
Tuesday, 10 July.  Any changes to the report will be presented at the meeting. 
 

Recommendation(s) 
 
The Cabinet is recommended to : 
 
(i) Agree the proposal for the amalgamation of William Ford Church of England Junior 

School and Village Infant School to become an all through Church of England 
Voluntary Aided Primary School with effect from 1 September 2012, by the closure 
of the existing infant school and expanding the age range of the existing Church of 
England voluntary aided junior school; 

 

AGENDA ITEM 4

Page 7



(ii) Agree to grant a lease for a peppercorn rent of the amalgamated site together with 
the adjoining access road and school house shown on drawing number 
LBBD/GIS/002 attached to this report as Appendix B, to the Trustees of William 
Ford School, for the purposes of ensuring that the through school can operate on 
one site; and 

 
(iii) Delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Children Services, in consultation 

with the Corporate Director of Finance and Resources and the Divisional Director of 
Legal and Democratic Services, to agree terms and conclude the necessary legal 
agreements to facilitate the merger of the two schools.  

 

Reason(s) 
 
The Cabinet needs to consider the proposed changes which are to be implanted under the 
requirements of the Education and Inspections Act 2006. The Council’s policy is to 
consider amalgamation of linked infant and junior schools whenever a headship is vacant 
and, over time, to amalgamate linked infant and junior schools. For this infant and junior 
school, there are clear benefits of amalgamation.  This amalgamation is different because 
of the differing types of schools.  Further, Cabinet also needs to consider the land issues 
and the formation of a lease at a peppercorn rent. 

 

 
1. Introduction and Background  
 
1.1 Management arrangements at Village Infant Schools are going through a process of 

change with the Headteacher announcing an intention to retire at the end of August 
2012.  This has therefore created an opportunity to examine the existing 
arrangements of organisation at the Schools.  Further, the William Ford Church of 
England Junior School and Village Infant School are suitable for amalgamation 
owing to their size and their location on a shared site.  

 
1.2 There are ten faith schools in Barking and Dagenham; six of these are Catholic 

Schools and four of these are Church of England Schools (this includes William 
Ford Junior School).   
 

1.3 Of the six Catholic Schools, five are Primary Schools and one a Secondary School. 
Of the Church of England Schools, one (William Ford School) is a junior school, two 
are primary schools and one a Secondary School. 
 

1.4 There is a strong demand for the high quality education provided by William Ford 
School and clear support from parents for its ethos and commitment to the local 
community. This can be seen through the multicultural and multi-faith nature of the 
intake and the demand for places. Whilst it is a Church of England School, William 
Ford had always welcomed all of the children who transfer from Village Infants School.    

 
2. Proposal and Issues  
 
2.1 Technically, the proposal involves five things; closing, or discontinuing, the Infant 

School with effect from 31st August 2012,  enlarging the premises of the existing 
Junior School by including the buildings previously used by the Infant school, 
making an alteration to current junior school by lowering the age range of the pupils 
there, from  7 to 11 years to age 3 to 11 years, increasing admission numbers from 

Page 8



81 to 90 each year, and adding  nursery provision, with effect from 1 September 
2012.  All pupils on the school roll of the Infant and Junior schools as at the end of 
the Autumn Term 2012 will transfer onto the roll of the Primary School. 

 
2.2 There are different types of school within the local authority maintained sector and 

most are community schools.  Village Infants School is a community school.  In 
these schools the Local Authority is responsible for employees, land, funding and 
admissions.  Some are Voluntary Aided Schools.  Voluntary-aided (VA) schools are 
maintained schools and often, but not always, have a religious character. William 
Ford is a Voluntary Aided Church of England school with a religious character.  The 
Governing Body employs staff directly, the trustees hold land on trust for the school, 
the Local Authority is responsible for funding, but the governing body must usually 
pay at least ten per cent of the costs of capital work.  The Governing Body is 
responsible for the admissions policy and arrangements.  However, they are 
required to consult on any changes to these. 

 
2.3 The Governing Body of the Junior School will determine a new Instrument of 

Government, in accordance with The School Governance (Constitution) (England) 
Regulations 2012, once the Primary School is set up.  These regulations come into 
force on 1 September (replacing ones of the same name made in 2007) and apply 
to any governing body that is constituted under an instrument of government that 
takes effect on or after 1 September 2012. These regulations stipulate the 
composition of governing bodies.  For Voluntary Aided Schools Foundation 
Governors must outnumber all other governors by two.  .   

 
2.4 This proposal will set a uniform standard number of 90 pupils per year group and 

will give a consistent provision across all the age ranges.  
 
2.5 The admissions criteria for the newly formed primary school have been reviewed to 

reflect the proposed primary school status and in order to protect admissions for all 
sections of the local community, the Governors have adopted as part of their 
admissions policy the following statement: 

 
If admissions from Dagenham Parish Church exceed 10%, the governing body 
commits to immediately review the Admissions Policy, in partnership with the 
Diocese & Local Authority, to make sure it remains a school committed to serve 
its local community. 

 
2.6 Village Infant Schools is a good school, highly regarded by the community.  William 

Ford School is an outstanding school and has been judged by Ofsted as outstanding 
for the last three inspections over a period of more than 10 years.  The quality of 
education provided is so strong it was used as an example of very best practice in a 
Ofsted publication “Twenty outstanding Primary Schools - excelling Against The Odds”.  
This sort of education alongside the philosophy which promotes strong outcomes for 
every child is highly sought after and provides a shining example of Barking & 
Dagenham education at its very best. 

 
2.7 This high quality education is in line with the Council’s Policy House whereby we 

want a borough that believes in opportunity and one that recognises and champions 
success.  The junior school was judged to be outstanding at its last Ofsted 
inspection in July 2010 and the infant school was judged to be good at its last 
Ofsted inspection, also in July 2010.  An interim assessment was carried out by 

Page 9



Ofsted in March 2012 at Village Infant School and the schools’ performance has 
been sustained.  There is the potential to improve value for money across the 
proposed amalgamated schools.  

 
2.8 The benefits seen in this proposal include: 
 

• an amalgamated school will ensure approaches to teaching, learning and 
planning the curriculum are consistent and coherent; 

 

• the primary school will have a combined budget and would benefit from 
greater flexibility; 

 

• the primary school will be able to rationalise the management structure to 
ensure the best use of staff across the school.  The combined expertise of 
the staff would be greater than in the two separate schools. 

 
2.9 On amalgamation of the schools, any current extended school services offered by 

the Infant and Junior schools will continue in the same way, unless the primary 
school decides otherwise. 

 
2.10 This proposal meets with the key principles of the Education Strategy: 
 

• for raising of the expected standards and shared ambition for all the children 
who live in the borough; 
 

• for a commitment to sustain and refresh the partnership between schools 
and the Council which has been a critical factor in the improved outcomes for 
children and young people. 
 

2.11 In particular the Education Strategy sets out the agreement for a programme for 
developing school places subject to the proviso that it may need revision in the light 
of changed demand for places and resources available. 

 
2.12 The newly formed primary school will have staff from the existing Village Infant’s 

School transferred to it under TUPE regulations. 
 
2.13 If the amalgamation is approved a commitment is sought to bring certain aspects of 

the school physically together. There was a similar commitment in recent 
amalgamations and this may involve a modest capital investment to be met from 
existing grants. 

 
3. Options Appraisal  
 
3.1 Realistically there are three options to be considered in respect of the future 

arrangements for Village Infants and William Ford Schools. First would be to 
amalgamate the two schools forming a single school under one governing body. 
Secondly, to make no change and leave the schools separate.  The third option 
would be to develop two primary schools. These options are explored further below. 

 
3.2 Option 1 
 The council has a policy which requires a review of linked or adjoining infant and 

junior schools to consider the possibilities of amalgamation when there is an 

Page 10



appropriate opportunity. The decision by the current Headteacher of Village Infant 
School to retire presents that opportunity now. The Governors and Headteacher of 
William Ford Junior School fully support the proposal, and the Diocese of 
Chelmsford are also in support. Approximately 25 parents attended the parental 
consultation meeting.  They were able to raise concerns and these are 
documented.  There is clear evidence over the years that parents are very 
supportive of the work of both existing schools.  Most parents have over the years 
chosen for their children to progress from Village Infants Community School to 
William Ford Church of England Junior.  To date the fact that the junior school has a 
religious character has had no negative impact on this. On the contrary, parents 
have demonstrated a preference for the education offered by it.  The proposal 
accounts for possibility that should applications and admissions on faith criteria 
increase beyond a certain amount, the admission criteria will be reviewed, so that 
the school remains one that serves that entire community.  Any local parents who 
want their child to attend a non denominational school have the option of applying 
to 4 other schools within 1.5 kilometres.   

 
3.3 Option 2 

An alternative is to make no change at this time and allow the schools to continue 
separately. This would be contrary to the Council’s intended policy and would mean 
the opportunity afforded by the retirement of the Village Infant School Headteacher 
will pass. It would also involve the Infants School in a Headteacher recruitment 
process, and would need arrangement for cover for the Infants Headteacher to be 
made for next term. 

 
3.4 During the course of consultation about the possible amalgamation proposals a 

further option did come forward and this was the possibility of both schools 
developing into primary schools. This option was explored but discounted as 
demand would have meant an additional nursery being provided, and each school’s 
intake would have reduced. Both Schools currently admit up to 3 forms of entry. It 
would not be possible on the current site to allow each school to become a 3fe 
primary schools. Any reduction in size of school would mean fewer pupils being 
admitted. If a proposal was put forward to develop two schools to 2fe then the costs 
would be in the order of £2.95m to £3.7m with pressure for some additional play 
space. 

 
3.5 The current recommendation on balance would therefore be to proceed with the 

amalgamation proposal, although this would be subject to the continuing 
consultation which ends on 10 July 2012. 

 
4. Consultation  
 
4.1 Governing Bodies of all infant and junior schools in the borough were presented 

with a report in the Spring Term of 2011 that included information on the Local 
Authority’s policy to amalgamate all separate infant and junior schools over time, 
where governors were invited to discuss and comment.  This was repeated to all 
governing bodies in the following (Summer) term. 

 
4.2 Village Infant School 
 
4.2.1 A series of meetings have been held to consult with Headteachers, Chairs of 

Governors and/or Governors, staff and Unions as follows: 

Page 11



 

• 11 October 2011  - a meeting with the Headteacher of the school 
 

• 29 November 2011 - a meeting was held with the Governing Body. 
 

• 5 December 2011  - a meeting was held with staff. 
 

• 6 February 2012  - meeting with the Governing Body of    
       both William Ford Junior and Village Infant   
     Schools. 

 

• 9 March 2012 -  a meeting was held with Unions and the Director of  
      Children’s Services  

 

• 13 March 2012    - a meeting was held with the Chairs of the Governing 
        Body’s for both Village Infant and William Ford  
         Junior Schools. 

 

• 20 March 2012     - a meeting with the Chair and Vice Chair of Governors 
 

• 22 March 2012     - a meeting was held with the Chair of the Governing 
                 Body. 

 

• 3 April 2012 - a meeting was held with the DCS and 3 elected ward 
members 

 

• 19 April 2012     - a meeting was held with parents of both schools. 
 

• 14 June 2012 - a meeting was held with DCS, Lead member and 
Village governors and staff. 

 
 

4.3 William Ford (Church of England) Junior School  
 
4.3.1 Meetings to consult with Headteachers, Chairs of Governors, Governors, Staff and 

Unions were held as follows: 
  

• 4 November 2011  -  meeting with Dr Duncan Ramsey, the Headteacher of  
    William Ford Junior School. 
 

• 12 January 2012  -  meeting with the Governing Body of the school. 
 

• 6 February 2012  -  meeting with the Governing Body of both William Ford 
    Junior and Village Infant school. 
 

• 9 March 2012  -  Meeting with Unions and Human Resources.  
 

• 13 March 2012 - Meeting with Chairs of Governors of both William Ford 
    Junior and Village Infant Schools. 
 

Page 12



• 19 April 2012  - Meeting with parents of both William Ford Junior and  
    Village Infant Schools. 

 
4.4 A consultation letter regarding the proposed amalgamation was sent to parents, 

carers, guardians of pupils, staff and governors of both Village Infant School and 
William Ford Junior School on 19 March 2012.  This letter was also sent to Trades 
Unions of both teaching staff and support staff.  A follow-up letter to the 
aforementioned letter was sent on 22 March 2012 providing clarification that it was 
proposed the new primary school would be a Church of England Voluntary Aided 
Primary School.  The Council has also been in consultation with the Diocese of 
Chelmsford regarding this proposal and the Diocese supports this proposal. 

 
4.5 The Governors of William Ford Church of England Junior School in consultation 

with the Council has published a formal statutory notice to expand William Ford 
Junior School and discontinue Village Infant School from the start of the Autumn 
Term, 1 September 2012 with standard new admission numbers as set out in 
section 2.3 above in each year group.  The notice was published in The Barking and 
Dagenham Post on 30 May 2012 to begin a formal consultation process which 
ended on 10 July 2012. The Notice has been displayed at the main public library in 
Barking and on both the infant and junior school notice boards. 

 
4.6 An Evidence File has been created containing minutes of all of the meetings held in 

relation to the proposed amalgamation of the two schools and all correspondence 
received.  Also contained within the evidence file is a copy of the Notice that was 
published in the Barking & Dagenham Post on 30 May 2012 and the two proposal 
documents.  These documents are listed at Appendix A, and contained in the 
Evidence File with all letters received. Appendix A gives an indication of how the 
authors of individual letters perceive the proposal. 

 
4.7 Key issues of concern 
 
4.7.1 Consultation responses have been analysed and the following areas of concern 

were raised: 
 

o Loss of specialist infant and early years experience – the provision of a 
primary school does not erode the specialist features but becomes an 
integrated provision the very nature of education, care and support for pupils 
in their formative years needs to be maintained in any primary setting and 
there is an opportunity to share aspects of that process with other 
colleagues.  Further there is an opportunity to enhance that provision from 
aspects of other areas of a primary school setting. 

 
o Risk that the school becoming a Church of England School could lead to 

Academy status – William Ford School is an outstanding school and as such 
is given certain opportunities. It would have nothing to gain from seeking 
academy status.  To date the Governors have not shown any interest in 
seeking to pursue academy status, and the Diocese of Chelmsford are 
neither promoting nor actively encouraging its schools to seek academy 
status. 

 
o Potential risk that new school being voluntary aided would not be prepared to 

expand to meet the demands of the community, if necessary – the evidence 

Page 13



suggests that previously the William Ford School has responded to expand 
from 2 to 3 forms of entry.  There are some physical constraints which might 
be problematic in the event there was a desire to expand to 4 forms of entry.  
At this stage there is no evidence to suggest that the Governors of William 
Ford School would not support demand from the local community to access 
the school. 

 
o The admissions criteria would not prioritise local children – the existing 

Governors of William Ford School have considered and responded to this 
issue in accordance with paragraph 2.5 above and would want to ensure that 
local children are being accommodated in William Ford as a local school in 
the way that they have traditionally supported local children.  All children 
from Village, whose parents wish, currently secure a place at William Ford 
School when they move to Junior School at Year 3.  The admissions criteria 
would be a matter for the new Governing Body but there is a clear 
commitment from the existing William Ford Governors to want to support the 
principles outlined. 

 
o The Village School name would be lost – the naming of the school is a 

matter for the new Governing Body once established and there have been 
some initial discussions at Governing Body level about a possible alternative 
name. 

 
o Staff transfer arrangements might disadvantage staff – because there are no 

staffing reductions planned staff cannot be given redundancy or 
redeployment rights. They will have continuity of pay, conditions and 
pensions. In a larger institution such as a primary school there are likely to 
be greater opportunities to secure alternative or improved employment. 

 
o Staff who had applied to work in a community school had no choice about 

joining a C of E School and may find this personally challenging of their faith 
perspective - . the Local Authority have given assurances that if staff feel 
they do not wish to work in the amalgamated school on religious grounds 
then those staff will be supported and if this includes moving to a non faith 
school we will undertake to do this.  

 
4.7.2 Petitions and Surveys – the consultation has resulted in both schools seeking views 

from the local community. In terms of Village Infants there is a signed petition 
objecting to the closure of the Village Infants School and this is widely supported.  
The William Ford School sought views from parents about the amalgamation and 
development of the primary school provision and there was very clear support that 
the principles of amalgamation would bring benefits to parents. 

 
4.7.3 The Director of Childrens Services has been notified by the National Union of 

Teachers that staff at Village Infant School have voted to take strike action, because 
the proposed contractual changes. They are prepared to continue discussions. 

 
4.7.4 There will be an evidence folder available at the meeting which includes all 

correspondence and appropriate responses. 
 
4.7.5 Any further issues raised subsequent to the writing of this report will be brought to 

the attention of Members of Cabinet. 

Page 14



 
5. Financial Implications  
 

Implications verified by: Dawn Calvert, Finance Group Manager  
 

5.1  In terms of formula allocations, for the financial year 2012 /13 William Ford Junior 
School will receive £1.508m and Village Infants School will receive £1.284m.  On 
amalgamation, it is likely this amount of allocation would remain the same as 
allocations are chiefly driven using factors that include pupil numbers and the gross 
internal area of the school buildings and these factors are unlikely to change.  The 
amalgamated school will cross the larger school threshold which will attract £21k 
per annum of additional funding.  All funding is sourced from the Dedicated Schools 
Grant.  It is important to note a new School Funding Formula will be in place from 
April 2013 and the impact of this new formula on current school allocations is not 
yet quantifiable.  It is hoped the impact of transition will be minimal.   

 
5.2 It is not the intention of the amalgamation to reduce budgets.  However, over time it 

is expected that owing to efficiencies in staffing there could be some savings which 
would accrue to the School’s budget. 

 
5.3 Schools are required to make efficient use of resources and the Governing Body 

would need to review its budget priorities and staffing structures in the light of 
demands and the requirement to respond to the needs of young people attending 
the school.   

 
6. Legal Implications  
 

Implications verified by: Lucinda Bell on behalf of Fiona Taylor, Legal Group 
Manager 

 
6.1 The Education and Inspections Act 2006 and associated Guidance issued by the 

Department for Education allows the Local Authority, working with the Governing 
Body of the junior school, to amalgamate two schools through closure of Village 
Infant School and consequent change in the lower age limit of William Ford Junior 
School to form an all through Primary school, with nursery, that will occupy the site 
of the two current schools, thereby enlarging the premises of the current junior 
school.  The resulting school will be a Church of England primary school with a 
slightly increased admissions number of 90.  The Act allows for the Local Authority 
to make some of the necessary proposals, and the Governing Body others.  All 
related decisions are taken by the Local Authority or the Schools Adjudicator if there 
is a request that this is the case, or the Local Authority fails to make a decision 
within two months of the date of the proposal.   

 
6.2 Implementation of the proposals would change the current school governance 

arrangements.  There will be one governing body that will have the powers and 
functions of a governing body of a voluntary aided school, which includes being the 
employers of staff at the newly formed primary school.    
 

6.3 There are two ways to ‘amalgamate’ two existing schools: 
 

a) by closing down both schools and opening a new one which will result in a new 
school number being issued for it; or 

Page 15



 
b) close one school and enlarge the age range of an existing school to 

accommodate the displaced pupils.  
 

6.4 The report proposes discontinuance of Village Infant School and a consequent 
change in lower age limit, small increase in admissions numbers, enlargement of 
the premises and addition of a nursery to William Ford Church of England Junior 
School.  An all through Church of England Voluntary Aided Primary school will be 
created.   

 
6.5 The Governors of the current junior school and the Council may make proposals, 

but must comply with the requirements specified in Part 2 of the Education and 
Inspections Act 2006, Schedule 2 to the Act and regulations made under the Act.  

 
6.6 The School Organisation (Establishment and Discontinuance of Schools) (England) 

Regulations 2007 (“the Discontinuance Regulations”) govern the proposed 
discontinuance. The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained 
Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (“the Prescribed Alterations Regulations”), 
govern the proposed change in lower age limit. 

 
6.7 In respect of both the discontinuance and the change in age limit, the Council is 

required to follow a two stage process; to consult with interested parties (families of 
the pupils, staff, trade unions and governing bodies) and to then publish its 
proposals. The consultation period is not prescribed in statute. However, the 
Department for Education provides a Guideline of 6 weeks. The Council must 
demonstrate how it considered the views of the consultees.   At the end of that 
period, the Council is required to publish its proposals to discontinue the infant 
Schools and extend the age range of the Junior Schools. The published proposals 
should state that the two proposals are dependent, i.e. one will not be implemented 
without the other.  

 
6.8 It is essential that the published notices comply with the statutory requirements as 

set out in the Regulations otherwise they may be judged invalid. 
 
6.9 Once proposals are published, a 6 week statutory representation period should 

follow during which comments on the proposals can be made.  
 
6.10 The Council will make the final decision following that period.  
 
6.11 Once approved, the proposals must be implemented as published.  
 
6.12 There will be changes in school governance as a result of these proposals but the 

school will remain a local authority maintained  (as a voluntary aided) school, 
although there will only be one governing body for the future for the primary school.  
The consultation process is designed to support these changes. 

 
6.13 Equalities issues 
 

S149 of the Equality Act 2010 imposes a duty on all public authorities, in the 
exercise of its functions, to have due regard to the need to: 
 

Page 16



a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by the Act 

b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it 

c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.   

 
This is relevant to this decision, since the effect of the proposed decision is to 
remove the non faith primary education for years Reception to two inclusive that 
was previously available at Village Infants School.  Parents who wish their children 
to access non faith provision for these years will have the choice of applying to 4 
other non-faith schools with 1.5 kilometres of Village Infants School.  There will be 
no change in this regard for pupils in years 3 to 6.  In fact, historically, almost every 
pupil who attended Village Infants School has transferred to William Ford Junior 
School.  It is therefore not considered that this proposal will have anything other 
than a negligible effect in the area, but it is nevertheless the duty of decision makers 
to have regard to the s149 duty, in relation to each of the protected characteristics 
listed in the Equality Act; age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion and belief, sex and sexual orientation.   

 
6.14 Land Issues 

 
The report indicates that the amalgamated site will be leased to the Trustees of the 
William Ford School for a peppercorn rent.  The report assumes that the freehold 
interest in the amalgamated site is held by the Council.  The terms of the lease will 
need to be negotiated by Property Services in consultation with the Legal Practice.  
It may be necessary to review existing arrangements for the use and occupation of 
the sites by the two schools. 

 
7. Other Implications 
 
7.1 Risk Management 

These proposals effectively close the infant school and expand the junior school to 
a primary school covering the age range 3-11 years.  William Ford Church of 
England Junior School was judged ‘Outstanding’ in their last Ofsted inspection and 
Village Infant School was judged ‘Good’ in its last Ofsted inspection, both carried 
out in July 2010. 

 
7.2 Staffing Issues  
  
 Staff at both infant and junior schools will be informed that they will be employed at 

the Primary School with effect from 1 September 2012. This will mean that the line 
management employer for some will change.  However under TUPE, all terms and 
conditions of their contract of employment will remain the same if these proposals 
are agreed.  

  
7.3 Property / Asset Issues 
 

The Village Infant School Building will be transferred as an asset in Trust to the 
Diocese under a lease at a peppercorn rent of £1 per annum.  The amalgamation of 
the schools will allow for a pooling of asset related revenue budgets, and the ability 

Page 17



to manage property costs over both buildings, which will support a better 
maintenance regime. 

 
  
8. Background Papers Used in the Preparation of the Report: 
  

• Legislation which allows this – Education and Inspections Act 2006 

• DFE Guidance – Expanding a Maintained Mainstream School by 
Enlargement or Adding a Sixth Form and Closing a Maintained Mainstream 
School 

• Council Policy House 

• Children and Young People Plan 
 
 
9. List of appendices: 
 

• Appendix A – List of documents contained in Evidence File 
 

• Appendix B –  Village Infant’s and William Ford Schools –  
     Drawing Ref: LBBD/GIS/002 

Page 18



 
Appendix A 
 
Item   

1 Summary of questions and feedback from staff at meeting Notes (dated 06/02/12) 
2 Letter to parents from Headteacher of Village – Against the 

proposal 
Letter (dated 16/03/12) 

3 Possible Amalgamation of William Ford C of E Junior School 
and Village Infant School  

Letter to All (dated 
19/03/12) 

4 Response from School Governor – Village Infants (Beryl 
Curtis) – Against the proposal 

Letter (dated 19/03/12) 

5 Letter to parents from Headteacher- invite to meeting Letter (dated 20/03/12) 
6 Possible Amalgamation of William Ford C of E Junior School 

and Village Infant School – Clarification letter 
Letter to All (dated 
22/03/12) 

7 Response from Village Infants School – Chair of Governors 
(Pat Kemp) – Against the proposal 

Letter (dated 22/03/12) 

8 Email from Stephen Evans on behalf of an parent – Against 
the proposal 

Email (dated 27/03/12) 

9 Response from Ki Alexander – In favour of proposal Email (dated 28/03/12) 
10 Response from Stephen Evans Campaigns Manager – 

Against the proposal 
Email (dated 29/03/12) 

11 Response from staff member – Jessica Wheatley – Against 
the proposal 

Letter (dated 29/03/12) 

12 Response from staff member – Janet Vize – Against the 
proposal 

Letter (dated 29/03/12) 

13 Response from staff member – Lesley Boys – Against the 
proposal 

Letter (dated 29/03/12) 

14 Response from staff member – name not legible – Against the 
proposal 

Letter (dated 30/03/12) 

15 Response from NUT – Against the proposal Letter (undated) 
16 Response from staff member – Mrs C Gray – Against the 

proposal 
Letter (undated) 

17 Response from former pupil – Ann Kakanou Letter (dated 16/04/12) 
18 Minutes from Parents meeting  Notes (dated 19/04/12) 
19 Response from GMB Union – Keith Williams seeking 

clarification 
Letter (dated 23/04/12) 

20 Response from Headteacher of William Ford Jr - Dr Duncan 
Ramsey  - In support of proposal 

Email/Letter (dated 
23/04/12 

21 Benefits as seen by LA & response from Village Dated (24/04/12) 
22 Response from Parent – Amanda Aderele to keep C of E 

provision 
Letter (dated 24/04/12 

23 Letter to parents from Heather Douglas - Headteacher – 
invitation to meeting 

Letter (dated 25/4/12)) 

24 Response from Headteacher – Heather Douglas – Against the 
proposal 

Letter (dated 27/04/12) 

25 Response from Ex Member of Staff – Suzan Moore – Against 
the proposal 

Letter (dated 27/04/12) 

26 Response from ATL Union – Joseph Sowerby – seeking 
clarification regarding concerns 

Letter (dated 30/04/12) 

27 Response from Parent Governor – Village Infants (Jo Archer) 
– Against the proposal 

Letter (dated 30/04/12) 

28 Response from staff – Brenda King – expressing concern 
about admissions 

Letter (undated) 

29 Response from staff – Tina Bennett – Against the proposal Letter (undated)  
30 Response from staff – C O’Callaghan – Against the proposal Letter (dated 30/04/12) 
31 Response from staff – Judy Arselan – Against the proposal Letter (dated 30/04/12) 
32 Response from staff – Sabiha Miah – Against the proposal Letter (dated 03/05/12) 

Page 19



33 Response from staff – Mrs S McGovern – Against the 
proposal 

Letter (undated) 

34 Response from staff – Y Cattle – Against the proposal Letter (dated 02/05/12) 
35 Response from staff – Karen Bishop – Against the proposal Letter (dated 02/05/12) 
36 Response from staff – Jan Byron – Against the proposal Letter (dated 02/05/12) 
37 Response from staff – Joanne Gray – Against the proposal Letter (dated 02/05/12) 
38 Response from staff – Joanne Dean – Against the proposal Letter (dated 03/05/12) 
39 Response from staff – Kyleigh Stolz – Against the proposal Letter (dated 03/05/12) 
40 Response from staff – Joanne Booth – Against the proposal Letter (dated 03/05/12) 
41 Response from staff – J Dunster – Against the proposal Letter (undated) 
42 Response from Staff – Lorraine Brace – Against the proposal  Letter (dated 03/05/12) 
43 Response from staff – Jackie Duplock – Against the proposal Letter (dated 03/05/12) 
44 Response from staff – Badrum Chowdhury – Against the 

proposal 
Letter (dated 03/05/12) 

45 Response from staff – LA Governor (Beryl Curtis) – Against 
the proposal 

Letter (dated 04/05/12) 

46 Response from staff – Nicola Tilley – Against the proposal Letter (dated 04/05/12) 
47 Response from staff – Su Joy – Against the proposal Letter (dated 04/05/12) 
48 Response from parent – Monika Wozniak – Against the 

proposal 
Letter (dated 04/05/12) 

49 Minutes from meeting  Dated 11/05/12 
50 Response from Keith Williams – GBM Union – seeking 

clarification 
Letter (dated 15/05/12) 

51 Letter to Stella Manzie from Heather Douglas(Headteacher) – 
Against the proposal 

Letter (dated 30/05/12) 

52 Response to Heather Douglas from Stella Manzie Letter (dated 11/06/12) 
53 Questionnaires received from parents of William Ford Junior 

School 
undated 

54 NUT Letter/Ballot Form – from John Dixon Letter (dated 07/06/12) 
55 Response from Keith Williams – GBM Union – Thank You 

Letter 
Letter (dated 22/06/12) 

56 Scrutineers’ Report Letter/Report (dated 
28/06/12) 

57 Notice published (30/05/12) 
58 Signed parent committee forms Forms (dated 01/05/12) 

59 Signed petition from parents – names 535 signatories Dated 04/05/12) 

 

Page 20



The William Ford

C of E Junior School

Village Infants School

Playing Field

Dunchurch

Library

CAUSTON SQUARE

Nursery

Clinic

FO
RD R

O
AD

6.1m

5.2m

Club

Path

Park View

Ward Bdy

School House

11 to 15

18 tc 24

2
3
 t
o
 3

3

2
6
 t
o
 2

9

5
7
 t
o
 6

5

1
4
 t
o
 2

0

2
1
 t
o
 2

6

27 to 35

30 to 35

3
6
 to

 4
1

5
1
 t
o
 5

6

9 to 13

7
 t
o
 1

0

Shelter

E
l 
S

u
b
 S

ta

Posts

1 to 6

3
 t
o
 8

1 to 7

D
ef

85a

14d14a

Post

The Lodge

FW

74

69

26
32

10

3
6

16

3
8

5
1

5
7

46

6
3

7
1

2
8

72

42

5
9

18

75

61

4
0

5
2

44

73

85

50

83

49

C
R

FF

FF

PostPost

4
0

Playing Field

59

10

46

FO
R

D
 R

O
A
D

Shelter

61

5
2

This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the
 permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her

 Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown copyright. Unauthorised 
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution

 or civil proceedings. 100019280 (2012)

@ A31:1,000

Village Infants School & William Ford C of E Junior School

20 0 2010 Meters

Drawing Ref: LBBD/GIS/002

Appendix B

Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes - To confirm as correct the minutes of the meeting held on 26 June 2012
	4 Proposed Amalgamation of William Ford Church of England (Voluntary Aided) Junior School and Village Infant School
	Amalgamation of William Ford and Village Infant Schools - App. A
	Amalgamation of William Ford and Village Schools - App. B (site plan)


